No. 70727-2-I

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I

JANE CHO, Plaintiff, Appellant vs.

THE CITY OF SEATTLE et. al.,,

CLERK OF THE SUPPLEIVE COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON

Defendant/Respondent

APPELLANT JANE CHO'S PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT

RONALD L. UNGER, WSBA #16875 BUCKLEY & ASSOCIATES Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Appellants 675 South Lane Street Suite 300 Seattle, WA 98104 Telephone (206) 622-1100

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1, Is a road authority's failure to control pedestrian/ vehicle conflicts at a special event a proximate cause of an injury when a crowd of people at that event are struck by a vehicle that does not stop?
- 2. Should a jury be permitted to conclude a road authority's failure to control pedestrian/ vehicle conflicts at a special event was a proximate cause of an injury when expert witnesses testify there would have been no accident if the road authority implemented appropriate safeguards?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jane Cho and a crowd of other people leaving a concert at the Showbox had to walk west across 1st Avenue South at South Massachusetts to get to their parked cars. CP 269-270. Numerous

pedestrians had difficulty crossing at that location because 1st Avenue is a wide, heavily traveled street and there was no light, no pedestrian island, no stop sign and no signs warning drivers about pedestrians. *Id.* See also CP 155-156.

After crossing 4 and a half lanes, Ms. Cho and some other pedestrians were struck by a motor vehicle in the southbound curbside lane driven by Juanita Carpenter. CP 269-270; CP CP 161: 20-25. Ms. Cho was seriously injured. According to Ms. Carpenter's statement:

There was construction going on on both sides of the street at 1st and Massachusetts. There was no stoplight, there was no crosswalk sign or warning signals. There was no flagger. The street was very congested with parked cars and construction equipment. There was a car to my left traveling south. I did not see Ms. Ha or the other pedestrians and accidently struck them with my vehicle.

CP 310; CP 233-234.

Cho sued the City, alleging its negligent conduct was a proximate cause of the accident. CP 1-11. The City moved for summary judgment on the theory insufficient evidence existed to prove its alleged negligent conduct was a "proximate cause" of the collision. CP 128-137. For purposes of its motion, the City admitted it breached the duties asserted by the plaintiff. CP 128::22- CP 129: 2:4 and CP 130:14-16. The plaintiff asserted the City breached the following duties: 1) the City failed to have a police officer stop and control traffic at the subject intersection which

would have prevented the collision; 2) the City failed to install a pedestrian island which, according to Jane Cho's declaration, would have prevented the collision because she would have waited in the island for southbound vehicles; and 3) the City failed to install a traffic signal which would have prevented the collision. CP 246: 10-16. Cho's assertions were based on the analysis of a traffic engineer, Dan Melcher, who had expertise in crowd control at special events. CP 317-361.

After the crash, several traffic engineers found that when there was no event at the Showbox, there were relatively few pedestrians crossing the street, but when an event was taking place at the Showbox, there were hundreds of pedestrians crossing 1st Avenue South. CP 273: 16- CP 274: 9; CP 286- 288; CP 340. Although there were literally hundreds of pedestrians crossing 1st Avenue to get to and from the Showbox, which served alcohol to them, CP 183; CP 188, the City of Seattle failed to implement any safety measure to prevent pedestrian/vehicle conflicts. CP 182: 11-24; CP 337-CP 341. The intersection had no traffic or pedestrian signal, no stop sign, no pedestrian island, no flashing over-hang warning motorists of pedestrian crossings, nor did the City employ any person to direct or control traffic to assist people crossing the street safely. CP 269-270; CP 182: 13-18; CP 154: 21- CP 155:25 The City failed to implement any of these safety devices, even though they issued a permit to allow the Page 3

Showbox to serve alcohol to thousands of people on a regular and frequent basis at concerts in its building at the southeast corner of the intersection. CP 181: 17-20; CP 192: 11-24; CP 187; CP 337- 341.

Traffic engineer Daniel Melcher testified that more likely than not, the employment of law enforcement officers to direct traffic so as to control pedestrian/ vehicle conflicts would have prevented the collision. CP 318:3-26 and CP 340-341. Mr. Melcher further testified that more likely than not additional pedestrian treatments, like a geometric reconfiguration of the roadway as well as the installation of a signal would have also prevented the crash. *Id.* Mr. Melcher's analysis was supported by peer reviewed research which established a significant reduction in pedestrian/ vehicle conflicts had the safeguards been implemented. CP 340. And Jane Cho herself testified the installation of a pedestrian island would have altered her behavior and prevented the crash. CP 269-270. Further, a human factors expert, William Vigilante, PhD, testified that based on Ms. Carpenter's previous driving, "more likely than not" she would have successfully responded to a red traffic signal had there been one at the scene. CP 289.

Notwithstanding the foregoing evidence, the trial court reasoned no jury could conclude that any of the City's failures was a "proximate

cause" of the accident. RP May 31, 2013 at p. 74: 6-17. Division I of the Court of Appeals affirmed. In doing so, the Court of Appeals failed to analyze one of Cho's central arguments: the City's failure to employ personnel to control traffic at this special event was a proximate cause. *Compare* CP 340-341; CP 252:14-16; CP 267:5-7; May 31, 2013 RP 59:2-RP 61:19 and p. 11 of Appellants' Opening Brief. to Court of Appeals opinion which did not address Cho's arguments.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals

The City of Seattle concedes that the decision at issue conflicts with at least one prior opinion of the Court of Appeals: Torgersen v. City of Seattle, 2014 WL 1287128. See pp. 3-5 of the City of Seattle's Motion to Publish, attached as exhibit 2 to the Appendix. The plaintiff in Torgersen, was struck by a car traveling 30 mph while crossing a busy street. Like our case, the driver struck the pedestrian because the driver did not see the pedestrian crossing. The plaintiff sued the City of Seattle claiming that the collision would not have happened if the City had simply placed a 20 mph reduced speed limit sign. The City argued the failure to install the sign could not be a legal cause of the collision because a jury could only speculate it would have prevented the collision.

In support of this argument, the City argued no reduced speed would have been required because the sign would only apply if children were present and that was not the case. Division I disagreed and held the issue was for the jury. Certainly, if a jury issue existed in *Torgersen*, a jury issue existed in our case.

Tthe opinion also conflicts with *Unger v. Cauchon*, 118 Wn. App. 165, 73 P. 3d 1005 (2003). In that case, the Estate of a reckless driver brought a cause of action against Island County for negligent highway design. The driver had been speeding, swerving erratically, running red lights and turning his headlights off and on through heavy rain before losing control and crashing. There were no witnesses to the crash. The trial court granted the County's summary judgment, concluding that the "county had no duty to foresee and protect [the decedent] against his extreme reckless driving." *Unger*, 118 Wn. App. at p. 170, 174-175. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's summary judgment order. In doing so, the court reasoned issues of proximate cause existed for the jury because it was a question of fact whether a highly negligent driver cut off the causal chain of the alleged breach of duty from the road authority.

Accordingly, the trial court erred in this case by concluding that because Unger was driving recklessly, the County owed him no duty as a matter of law. Although the jury instruction approved in Keller does not say so, we read the opinion to require the court to determine, or properly instruct a jury to determine, that a municipality's duty is independent of the plaintiff's negligence. Thus, the County owed Unger a duty, regardless of his allegedly negligent conduct, to make the road safe for ordinary travel. It is for the jury to decide whether the County's construction or maintenance of Camano Hill Road created a condition that was unsafe for ordinary travel and whether the condition of the road contributed to Unger's accident and death. Genuine issues of material fact exist about the proximate cause of Unger's death, which makes summary judgment improper.

. . .

... The extent to which Unger's reckless driving and the County's failure to maintain the road contributed to Unger's death is a question for a jury.

Unger, 118 Wn. App. at pp. 175-176, 178 (2003); emphasis supplied.

On the other hand, in our case, the Court concluded that even though Cho produced evidence that the road authority failed to implement appropriate pedestrian safeguards, no proximate cause existed because the driver was not paying attention. See p. 1 and pp. 6-8 of the Court of Appeals opinion. The Cho Court concluded that plaintiff's expert testimony was speculative and conclusory, even thought it was based on careful engineering study and peer-reviewed research. Compare pp. 8-10 of the Court of Appeals' opinion with CP 340-341. The evidence in our case was just as compelling as the evidence in Torgerson v. the City of Seattle or Unger v. Cauchon, yet in those cases, proximate cause was for a jury. But in our case, the Court of Appeals concluded there was no proximate cause as a matter of law.

The Cho decision also conflicts with Chen v. City of Seattle, 153 Wn. App. 890, 223 P.3d 1230 (2009). In Chen, a pedestrian was struck and killed while crossing a busy street late at night. The plaintiff sued the City of Seattle, alleging the collision would not have happened if the City had not installed a marked crosswalk. The trial court dismissed, but the court of appeals reversed because it recognized a jury could conclude a road authority breached its "duty" to install appropriate pedestrian treatments based on the "totality of the circumstances," including how busy and wide the road was. Chen v. City of Seattle, 153 Wash.App. 890, 894, 223 P.3d 1230 (2009), review denied, 169 Wash.2d 1003, 234 P.3d 1172 (2010). Although *Chen* dealt with the "duty" issue, the question of "proximate cause" is "inextricably "intertwined with the same analysis. Lowman v. Wilbur, 178 Wn. 2d 165, 169, 309 P. 2d 387 (2013). If, in Chen, an issue of fact existed as to whether the City failed to make the intersection safe for pedestrians, a similar issue exists in our case.

B. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court

Our case also conflicts with *Lowman v. Wilber*, 178 Wn. 2d 165, 309 P. 3d 387 (2013). In that case, an intoxicated and speeding motorist swerved off the road and struck a power pole. Her injured passenger sued the road authority which, like the City of Seattle, also obtained a

summary judgment dismissing the case on the ground that no negligent conduct of the road authority could be a "proximate cause" of the collision. The Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal, but the Supreme Court reversed because pursuant to *Keller v. City of Spokane*, 146 Wash.2d 237, 44 P.3d 845 (2002), the road authority's negligent conduct is not cut off simply because the negligent conduct of a highly intoxicated motorist also contributed to the collision. In ruling as it did, the *Lowman* specifically disapproved of the line of cases relied on by the City of Seattle in this case, i.e., *Klein v. City of Seattle*, 41 Wn. App. 636, 705 P.2d 806 (1985); *Braegelmann v. County of Snohomish*, 53 Wn. App.. 381, 766 P.2d 1137 (1989); *Cunningham v. State*, 61 Wn. App. 562, 811 P.2d 225 (1991); *Medrano v. Schwendeman*, 66 Wn. App. 607, 836 P.2d 833 (1992). *See Lowman*, 178 Wn. 2d at p. 167, 170-171 (2013) and *compare to CP 133-136*. As stated in *Lowman*:

Whatever the reasons for a car's departure from a roadway, as a matter of policy we reject the notion that a negligently placed utility pole cannot be the legal cause of resulting injury. As in Schooley, the injury here was not so remote as to preclude liability as a matter of law. If a jury concludes that Lowman suffered injuries within the scope of the duty owed to Lowman—i.e., that his injury was not too remote—then there is no basis to foreclose liability as a matter of legal cause. Of course, this analysis answers only the legal prong of the causation analysis. At trial, a jury could limit or negate liability on any number of theories, including comparative fault or the failure to prove factual causation.

Lowman, 178 Wn. 2d at p. 172 (2013).

In our case, like *Lowman*, the proximate cause of the road authority's negligent conduct was not severed by an intoxicated driver. Just as the jury in *Lowman* was allowed to consider whether an improperly placed pole was the cause of an injury, a jury should be allowed to consider whether the failure to install a pedestrian island or other treatments, such as a traffic signal or the employment of security to direct traffic outside a concert venue, was a cause of Ms. Cho's injuries.

C. The decision should be reviewed because it involves a substantial public interest

The City of Seattle concedes that the issues in this case are of significant public importance. See pp. 7-8 of the City's Motion to Publish at exhibit 3. Never before has this court addressed how far the consequences extend for the City's failure to exercise common sense crowd control at special events. In our case, the Showbox concert venue spills hundreds of pedestrians onto the sidewalk, at night, and are left to fend for themselves as they attempt to navigate busy streets to get to their cars. Cho's experts concluded the City should have employed personnel to direct traffic and control the crowd and that if they had, this collision

would not have happened. The court should address that issue, as a matter of public safety.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set out above, this court should accept review of the Court of Appeals decision.