No.	
1 10.	

Court of Appeals No. 70727-2-I

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JANE CHO,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

vs.

CITY OF SEATTLE, et al.,

#### INTRODUCTION

Respondent City of Seattle answers appellant Jane Cho's petition for discretionary review by the Supreme Court. For the reasons set forth below, the City asks that the petition be denied.

Fairly read, appellant's petition is a re-argument of the case she presented to the Court of Appeals. While it pays lip service to the formal requirements of RAP 13.4(b), it presents no compelling argument that Division I, in affirming the trial court's grant of summary judgment, has departed from well-settled principles of tort law in Washington. The petition raises no questions of policy, implicates no constitutional issues, and points to no wrong turn the appellate court has taken in applying the common law. Rather, it seeks the very relief appellant failed to obtain below, implicitly, and improperly, asking this Court to hear the matter as a court of error.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the evening of October 28, 2010, Jane Cho was among a crowd leaving the Showbox theatre, an entertainment venue on First Avenue South in Seattle. Along with several other pedestrians, she was struck by a drunk driver as she crossed the street in an unmarked crosswalk. CP 4, 109. The driver, Juanita Mars had a blood-alcohol level of 0.29, and admitted that she was not looking ahead as her car approached the

crosswalk. CP 111, 397. Mars didn't see the pedestrians, or other cars that had stopped or were slowing for them. CP 9, 109, 397. Cho had already crossed the two northbound lanes of First Avenue, and was halfway across the southbound lanes when she was hit. CP 109.

Cho sued the City, Showbox Two, LLC (the owner of the theatre), and Mars. On May 31, 2013, the City's and Showbox Two's motions for summary judgment were granted. CP 500-506. On July 31, 2013, following the trial court's denial of her motion for reconsideration, Cho filed a notice of appeal of the summary judgment in favor of the City. CP 682-692. Division One of the Court of Appeals affirmed on October 20, 2014, and granted the City's motion to publish on December 12, 2014.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The City's motion for summary judgment argued that, questions of duty and breach aside, the street design defects alleged by Cho did not proximately cause the accident. In affirming the judgment, Division One rejected Cho's argument that the accident would not have happened if a signal had been present to control traffic, or a pedestrian island available at the scene. The court found expert opinions offered in support of this argument to be speculative. These included the opinion that Mars was an attentive driver who would have responded to traffic controls, and that a traffic island would have prevented the accident by giving the pedestrians

both a place of safety and an opportunity to determine gaps in traffic. The court also rejected as speculative Cho's testimony that had a traffic island be present she would have used it to wait for traffic to pass, and had a traffic light been there, she would have waited for the green light. Given that traffic had already stopped, and a number of pedestrians were already crossing the street, the court did not find it reasonable that Cho alone would have waited for all traffic to pass before crossing.

Appellant's petition is based on nothing more than its disagreement with Division One's analysis of proximate cause in this case. For example, asserting that her expert's opinion "was based on careful engineering study and peer-reviewed research," *Petition*, p. 7, Cho does not explain why that fact should negate the court's finding that such opinion, "does not create an inference that had there been a red light, Mars, who was not looking ahead, would have stopped." *Opinion*, p. 10. The petition likewise challenges Division One's analysis of proximate cause in other road design cases, including *Lowman v. Wilber*, 178 Wash.2d 165, 309 P.3d 387 (2013), without devoting a single word to the manner in which the court distinguished those cases on the facts.

No important point of law or policy is raised by this petition. It seeks, in effect, de novo review of the case without demonstrating that the Court of Appeals fundamentally misunderstood or misapplied the law, or

that the law itself merits review in the circumstances of this case.

Accordingly, the City asks that the petition be denied.

Respectfully submitted this 12<sup>th</sup> day of January, 2015.

PETER S. HOLMES Seattle City Attorney

By:

VANESSA LEE, WSBA #22464

REBECCA BOATRIGHT, WSBA #32767

Assistant City Attorneys

Attorneys for Respondent City of Seattle